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Introduction  

Background/Purposes 

This project is part of an ongoing effort to survey the historic properties within and adjoining 
the original Cortez townsite. It follows the first three phases of the project, in which the City of 
Cortez surveyed the properties in the residential neighborhood along Montezuma Avenue and 
in the residential/commercial transition area between Montezuma Avenue and Main Street.  
 
This project is located on the north side of Main Street within the original townsite.  It is funded 
by a Certified Local Government (CLG) grant (#CO-15-016). 
 
The survey results contribute to the knowledge and appreciation of the history of the 
development of Cortez. The City will use the survey data to guide future planning, development 
and interpretation projects. The project results also provide valuable information for property 
owners contemplating restoration or rehabilitation of their historic property.  
 
Federal Funding Acknowledgement 
The activity that is the subject of this material has been financed in part with Federal funds 
from the National Historic Preservation Act, administered by the National Park Service, U.S. 
Department of the Interior for History Colorado.  However, the contents and opinions do not 
necessarily reflect the views or policies of the U.S. Department of the Interior or History 
Colorado, nor does the mention of trade names or commercial products constitute an 
endorsement or recommendation by the Department of the Interior or History Colorado. 
 
This program receives Federal funds from the National Park Service.  Regulations of the U.S. 
Department of the Interior strictly prohibit unlawful discrimination in departmental Federally-
assisted programs on the basis of race, color, national origin, age or handicap.  Any person who 
believes he or she has been discriminated against in any program, activity, or facility operated 
by a recipient of Federal assistance should write to: Director, Equal Opportunity Program, U.S. 
Department of the Interior, National Park Service, 1849 C Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20240. 
 
Project Description 
This survey area encompasses the commercial properties along the north side of Main Street 
and within the original townsite.  The survey boundaries are Linden Street on the west and the 
lot at the northeast corner of Main and Ash Streets (210 East Main) on the east.  Main Street 
forms the south boundary and the alley on the north side of the lots forms the north boundary. 
Vacant lots were excluded from the survey.  Twenty-eight survey forms were completed for the 
area. 
 
The City of Cortez Historic Preservation Board supervised and coordinated the project under 
the direction of the Chair, Linda Towle, with assistance from Chris Burkett, the Cortez Grants 
and Special Projects Coordinator.  Jill Seyfarth, the Principal of Cultural Resource Planning of 
Durango, Colorado, contracted with the City of Cortez in August of 2015 and completed the 
project in May of 2016. 
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The History Colorado State Historic Fund staff contacts for this work were Mark Rodman, Amy 
Unger,  Michelle Chichester and Jennifer Deichman.   
 
New Information in this Report 
This report repeats the previously established historic contexts for and history of Cortez, as 
described in the Historic Contexts section.  New information is provided in the Survey Results 
section regarding the historic development of the survey area, including updates to existing 
contexts when new information relevant to the survey area warranted it.   
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Survey Area  
 
Legal Description 
The cumulative survey area encompasses approximately 10 acres, and includes properties 
located in parts of 6 blocks. The survey area is located within Section 26 of Township 36 N, 
Range 16W, New Mexico Principal Meridian, Cortez, Montezuma County, Colorado. Figures 1 
through 3 illustrate the survey area. 
 
Physical Setting 
The City of Cortez is located in southwest Colorado in the geographic area known as the 
Montezuma Valley, at an elevation of about 6200 feet above sea level.  It is situated in a 
transitional area between the arid scrublands to the south and the forested montane 
environment of the Rocky Mountains to the northeast. The climate is semi-arid, with an 
average annual precipitation of about thirteen inches. 
 
In 2010 the census counted 8,482 people in Cortez and 25,535 people in Montezuma County.  
Cortez is the county seat and the largest community in the county. The City covers 3,930 acres 
or 6.2 square miles. US Highway 160 runs east-west through the middle of town and serves as 
ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ ŎƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ ǘƘƻǊƻǳƎƘŦŀǊŜΦ  ¢ƘŜ ƘƛƎƘǿŀȅ ōŜƴŘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎƻǳǘƘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ǿŜǎǘ ŜƴŘ 
and intersects with the north-south oriented US Highway 491. 
 
The survey area is located on the north side of Main Street, which is also US Highway 160. It is a 
commercial area that is not located closed to any historic districts, as there are no designated 
historic districts in Cortez at this time.  
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Figure 1: Survey area on the Cortez, Colorado 7.5 minute U.S.G.S. quadrangle map (1965). 

Phase IV 
survey 
area  
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Figure 2: Aerial view of the survey area provided by the Cortez GIS department. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 3: Map of resources surveyed. Resources are numbered from 1 to 28 proceeding from 
right to left and listed in Table 1. This map is based on data provided by The Preservation 
Partnership who worked in this area for the City of Cortez in the 1990s. 
 
 
 
 

   28-26    25-21            20-15           14-5         4-2       1 
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Table 1: Surveyed sites 

# State # 5MT Address  Name Construction Date 

1 22260 210 E Main  Cortez City Hall 1955 

2 22261 126 E Main  McCluer Garage/Rent A Wheel 1919 

3 6910 110 E Main  Belmont Tavern/Pioneer 
Printing 

1925 

4 6909 100 E Main  Bozman Garage 1919 

5 12688 48 E Main  Optical Shoppe 1900 

6 12686 44 E Main  High Mesa Designs 1953 

7 12690 40 E Main  The Geeks 1928 

8 6908 34 E Main  McEwen Hall 1895 

9 12691 30 E Main  Hairvolution 1920 

10 12692 28 E Main  El Grande Café 1894 

11 12701 22 E Main  McCabe 1929 

12 22262 12 E Main  Moose & More 1976 

13 22263 16 N Market Farmers Telecommunications 1946 

14 19093 2 E Main  Montezuma Valley National Bank 
and Store 

1909 

15 6906 2 W Main  Wilson Building-Stone Block 
Building 

1889 

16 12698 20-30 W Main  JC Penney Building 1953 

17 6905 34 W Main  Cortez Post Office 1909 

18 12695 40 W Main  Patterson Office Supply/Quilt 
Shop 

1948 

19 12696 44 W Main  Vitakist Bakery/Pepperhead 1948 

20 6904 48 W Main  HavranΩǎ Cleaners 1890 

21 22264 100 W Main  Pippos 1961 

22 22265 112 W Main  Basin Finance Co/Le Nails 1957 

23 22266 116 W Main  Old Penningtons 1957 

24 22267 130 W Main  Old Woolworths/Kokopelli 1958 

25 22268 140 W Main  Montezuma County Offices 1958 

26 22269 200 W Main  Elm Street Restaurant 1937 

27 22270 210 W Main  Southwest Realty 1945 

28 22271 220 W Main  Jerry Carlson Properties 1971 
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Research Design and Methods  
 

Research Design 
 
Objectives 
The surveyΩǎ objectives were to document the history and current condition of identified 
properties, to provide a preliminary evalǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŜŀŎƘ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΩǎ ŜƭƛƎƛōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ƘƛǎǘƻǊƛŎ ǊŜƎƛǎǘŜǊǎ 
(local, state and national), and to determine potential for a historic district within the survey 
area.  Research focused on gathering historical and architectural data that would help 
determine the historic significance of the resource within the context of local, regional and 
national history.  The resulting data included information specific to the property and identified 
local influences, such as economic trends or natural settings.   
 
Previous Work in the Area 
A file search requested of History Colorado revealed 16 sites in the survey area had previously 
been documented on state survey forms. Information from the old forms was transferred to 
the current #1403 Colorado Cultural Resource Survey Architectural Inventory Form and 
additional information was provided. The City of Cortez maintains a historic register. Two 
properties in this survey (5MT6908-The McEwen Hall, and 5MT6906-The Stone Block Building) 
are listed on the Local Register. A third site, the Montezuma Valley National Bank and Store 
(5MT19093), is listed on the National Register, the State of Colorado Register (hereafter 
referred to as the State Register) and the Local Register. 
 
The file search indicated that the areas immediately surrounding the survey area include the 
sites documented in the first three phases of this project (conducted between 2011 and 2014) 
and forty-six other sites. Of these sites, the Ertel Funeral Home (5MT6925) is listed on the local, 
state and National Register of Historic Places. 
 
Most of the sites recorded prior to 2011 were documented in either 1981 as part of a state 
wide cultural resource planning process, or in 1995 by Preservation Partnership as part of a 
planning study commissioned by the City of Cortez and partly funded by State Historical Fund 
Grant #SHF 1995-M3-050.  
 
The previously recorded sites are all historic buildings and structures related to the 
establishment and development of Cortez between 1886 and 1950. They include standing 
commercial, religious, governmental and residential buildings and a remnant of a segment of a 
Cortez ditch. Tables listing the recorded sites are included in the Appendix. 
 
Research Sources 
Various books and published material provided histories of the Cortez area.  They include The 
River of Sorrows; The History of the Lower Dolores River Valley, edited by Gregory D. Kendrick 
and A History of Montezuma County, by Ira Freeman. The Montezuma County Historical Society 
provided a four-volume compendium, called Great Sage Plain to Timberline: Our Pioneer 

Figure 2    Survey Areas with street address numbers 
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History Volumes I-IV.  A recent publication called Cortez is a collaboration of three residents and 
includes numerous historic photographs. These sources are listed with additional references in 
the Bibliography.   
 
Since the survey area is the major commercial thoroughfare in Cortez, the project was 
anticipated to include commercial buildings constructed between the platting of the townsite in 
late 1886 and 1965. An initial windshield review of the resources suggested that most of the 
buildings were constructed or extensively remodeled between 1945 and 1960.   
 
  Major archival materials identified for use included: 

¶ County property records 

¶ Local historical society materials as offered by historical society members 

¶ Locally published informal histories, memoirs and a walking tour brochure 

¶ Historic photographs 

¶ Newspaper archives 

¶ Information volunteered by the public 

¶ Publicly  accessible federal records, including census and social security death indices 

¶ Historical city directories 

¶ Sanborn Fire Insurance Map; only one is available for Cortez and it covers part of the 
survey area 

  
Contexts 
Historic contexts for the Cortez area are discussed in History ColoradoΩǎ Colorado Plateau 
Country Historic Context by Michael B. Husband (1984).  This context document, while in 
serious need of an update, provides general background information on community 
development in southwest Colorado. tŀǳƭ hΩwƻǳǊƪŜΩǎ Frontier in Transition, A History of 
Southwestern Colorado (1980) provides additional historical background.  History ColoradoΩǎ 
updated archaeological context document for the Southern Colorado River Basin (Lipe et al 
1999) is also useful. Full citations for these sources are listed in the Bibliography. 
 

A local historic context was developed in 1995 for the commercial areas of Cortez by 
Preservation Partnership, a consulting group who conducted a planning study commissioned by 
the City of Cortez. The 1995 context document divided the cƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΩǎ ŎƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ 
development into four topics, covering the pioneer era from 1880 to 1920, tourism and 
transportation from 1906 to the present, the automobile and city expansion era from 1920 to 
1945, and modernism/post World War II to the present. 
 
Refined historic contexts are provided, along with the related developmental history of Cortez, 
in the Historic Contexts section of this report. The refined contexts integrate the 1995 contexts 
with residential historic contexts for Cortez and update the contexts when new information 
relevant to the survey area warranted it. 
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Survey Methodology 
 
The project began with an introduction to the public.  All property owners received a letter 
informing them of the survey and inviting them to come to a public meeting with any 
information they would like to share about the history of their property. Members of the Cortez 
Historic Preservation Board and Jill Seyfarth met with property owners and explained the 
project on October 8, 2015.  
 
Field survey work was conducted between August and December of 2015, and in January of 
2016.  Property owners and tenants encountered during the survey were very helpful in 
providing whatever information they had about their property. 
 
The survey practices followed the guidelines of the Colorado Cultural Resource Survey Manual.  
The project included an intensive survey of all twenty-eight properties with buildings or 
structures within the survey area. Two vacant lots were not surveyed.  The survey area was 
drawn on a City of Cortez aerial photo and map.  A temporary number was assigned to each 
property, which was later assigned a state site number.   
 
Each building was described, photographed, researched, and mapped. Sites were recorded on 
Colorado Cultural Resource Survey Architectural Inventory forms and located on USGS 
topographic maps (Cortez 7.5 minute quadrangle map 1965). The Colorado Cultural Resource 
Survey Manual lexicon table and the Field Guide to ColoradoΩǎ IƛǎǘƻǊƛŎ Architecture and 
Engineering defined the architectural styles and/or types assigned to the buildings.   Terms 
from the MŀƴǳŀƭΩǎ ǾŀǊƛƻǳǎ ƭŜȄƛŎƻƴǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǳǎŜŘ ǿƘŜƴŜǾŜǊ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘΦ1   
 
Each property was photographed during the field review.  All photographs were made from 
digital files and are black and white four by six inch prints on true black and white paper.  
Photographs were labeled using archivally acceptable foil-backed labels and sleeved as 
specified by History Colorado. A photo log accompanied the photographs. 
 
UTM data was produced via a Garmin WAAS-enabled GPS Unit, and verified through the 
software program TOPO 2! -National Geographic Society. Site maps incorporated data from the 
Cortez GIS database. 
 
This final report explains the survey findings, reviews the general historical development of 
/ƻǊǘŜȊΣ ŀƴŘ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎŜǎ ŀƴȅ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘƛŜǎ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ άŦƛŜƭŘ ŜƭƛƎƛōƭŜέ ŦƻǊ the local, state or National 
Register of Historic Places. The report and copies of each survey form will be provided to the 
Cortez Historic Preservation Board, as well as to History Colorado per the terms of the project 
contract. The Cortez Historic Preservation Board will provide each property owner with a copy 
of their survey form. 
 

                                                 
1
 History Coloradoôs survey manuals and guidelines are available online at  

http://www.historycolorado.org/oahp/survey-inventory-forms 
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Jill Seyfarth conducted the survey and research. Archival research occurred between August 
2015 and February 2016.  Research took place in Cortez, Durango and Denver, Colorado.  The 
Cortez Public Library offered clippings files and locally published histories and memoirs, and 
historic maps.   ¢ƘŜ aƻƴǘŜȊǳƳŀ /ƻǳƴǘȅ !ǎǎŜǎǎƻǊΩǎΣ ¢ǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊΩǎ ŀƴŘ /ƭŜǊƪΩǎ hŦŦƛŎŜǎ ŀƭƭ ŎƻƴǘŀƛƴŜŘ 
property information such as legal descriptions and sporadic ownership data. The research 
included searches in the Fort Lewis College Center of Southwest Studies, the Denver Public 
Library and the Stephen Hart Library (History Colorado) for historic photographs, business 
directories and miscellaneous sources.   
 
Local historians and volunteers, including Janet Weeth and Joyce Lawrence generously provided 
an extensive compilation of data they had prepared for other research projects about Cortez..  
Doug Roth, the G.I.S. Coordinator for the City of Cortez, prepared and provided base maps for 
each site.  Linda Towle and Chris Burkett ably administered the process for the City of Cortez. 
The project was made so much better as a result of the help from these individuals.  
 

  
Figure 4: This original Cortez plat was filed in 1886 in La Plata County because Montezuma 
County was not created until 1889. The survey area is located within the red outline. 
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Historic Context s  
 
Contexts  
The following contexts divide the developmental history of Cortez into common themes within 
a specific time period.  They combine the four contexts defined in the 1995 study of Cortez with 
the three general historic contexts developed in the first three phases of the current survey 
project.  
 
They are: 

¶ Early Settlement and Euro-American Contact:  400 A.D. to 1886 

¶ Founding and Early Development of Cortez:  1886-1904 

¶ Agriculture, Water and Prosperity:  1904-1920 

¶ The Automobile, Mobility and Tourism:  1919-1945 

¶ Vaulting into the Modern Age: 1945-1960 
 

Context 1 Early Settlement and Euro-American Contact:  400 A.D. to 1886 
 
History 
Southwest Colorado has a rich and longstanding cultural tradition. The remains of people 
attributed to Archaic (beginning around 7500 B.C), subsequent Basketmaker (500 B.C.-750 A.D.) 
and Ancestral Puebloan (750-1300 A.D.) traditions have all been identified in the area.  Other 
Native Americans, Europeans and Americans arrived later. Archaeological findings indicate that 
the first Utes to migrate into the Mesa Verde region may have arrived as early as 1300, at 
roughly the time the Ancestral Puebloans departed from the area.2  Written historical accounts 
indicate the Utes were among the tribes trading with the Spanish in present day New Mexico by 
1598.  
 
Spanish explorers came north to the region from Mexico. Juan De Onate brought the earliest 
Spanish settlers to the Rio Grande Valley in present day New Mexico in 1598. Between 1761 
and 1765, Juan Maria Antonio de Rivera led an expedition from New Mexico on a route toward 
present day Delta, Colorado, in search of gold and silver. In 1776, Fathers Dominguez and 
Escalante traversed the area in search of a route from Santa Fe to the California missions.  
Much of their route later became the Old Spanish Trail, which was used between 1830 and 
1840 by Santa Fe traders on their way to California. 
 
Spain relinquished its territories to Mexico in 1821. When the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo 
ended the United States-Mexican War in 1848, Mexico ceded its northern holdings to the 
United States and much of the future state of Colorado became part of the United States.   
 
Cattle men and would-be miners entered this newly opened American territory, but their 
efforts were considerably diminished in the 1860s by the Civil War.  Those who returned after 

                                                 
2
 Lipe, William; Varien, Mark; Wilshusen, Richard. Colorado Prehistory: A Context for the Southern Colorado 

River Basin. Colorado Council of Professional Archaeologists: Denver, 1999. Page 354. 
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the war faced the issue of trespassing on Ute lands. The United States Government aggressively 
negotiated a series of agreements with the Utes to further Federal control of lucrative minerals 
located on Ute land, and to obtain property for new settlement.  In 1874, the Brunot 
Agreement with the Utes opened land in the southwestern part of the Colorado territory to 
non-natives. The scene was set for settlement and development. 
 
Typical Cultural Resources Illustrating this Context 
Since Cortez was not established until the end of this context (1886), and the community has 
experienced urban development, it is unlikely that many above-ground physical remains 
illustrating this context will be found within the original city limits.  However, Ancestral 
Puebloan sites may be found within the Cortez city limits. The Hawkins Preserve, for example, is 
located within the City limits and contains above ground Ancestral Puebloan architectural 
features. Archaeological remains were recently discovered as part of the construction (2013-
2014) of the new Cortez-Montezuma High School.  
 
Context 2  Founding and Early Development of Cortez:  1886-1904 
 
This period covers the years of early settlement and ends with, after many failed attempts, the 
delivery of a reliable water supply to Cortez.  
 
History 
Although early settlers were already moving to the area, the formal townsite of Cortez was 
launched as part of ŀƴ ŜƴǘǊŜǇǊŜƴŜǳǊΩǎ ǎŎƘŜƳŜ ǘƻ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŀƴŘ ƭŀƴŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ aƻƴǘŜȊǳƳŀ 
Valley.  The open country located in the far southwestern corner of Colorado suggested an 
opportunity to James W. Hanna.  He realized that the vast expanses of land in the arid 
Montezuma Valley could be desirable to farmers-and therefore financially lucrative- if he could 
somehow provide more water.  The Denver-based promoter raised $200,000 in capital to 
create the Montezuma Valley Water Supply Company (MVWSC).  The Colorado State Archives 
records indicate Hanna filed for incorporation on December 11, 1885.3 Principals were listed as: 

¶ Burtis L. Arbecam of Boston who served as president and whose name lives on in Cortez 
on Arbecam Street, 

¶ James W. Hanna as Vice President and General Manager, 

¶ Emory S. Turner of  New York as Secretary, and  

¶ A.B. Chamberlain of Denver as Treasurer. 
 
The investors planned to build a 5,400-foot-long tunnel with siphons and flumes to divert water 
from the Dolores River drainage to the Montezuma Valley.  The company expected to provide 
water to up to 50,000 people and to irrigate 200,000 acres.4  
 

                                                 
3
 Colorado State Archives Records of Incorporations. 

4
 Kendrick, Gregory D editor. The River of Sorrows; The History of the Lower Dolores River Valley. Accessed on 

line on July 21, 2011 at http://www.nps.gov/history/history/online_books/rmr/river_of_sorrows/index.htm. 

United States Department of the Interior, 1981. 
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A new town would provide services to the water system workers and a commercial center for 
the farmers who would flock to the area.  Hanna envisioned a railroad connection that would 
ǎŜŀƭ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΩǎ ǇǊƻǎǇŜǊƻǳǎ ŦǳǘǳǊŜΦ Lƴ ƭŀǘŜǊ ȅŜŀǊǎΣ ƘŜ ƭƻōōƛŜŘ ŜȄǘŜƴǎƛǾŜƭȅ Ŧor a 
railroad connection that never came.  But first, he needed to develop the new townsite. There 
is some uncertainty about who named the townsite after Spanish explorer Hernán Cortéz, but 
most historical sources credit either Hanna or his water company with providing the name.5 
 
As the manager of the MVWSC, Hanna went to work to create a city. Using a method quite 
common to real estate development at that time, the company capitalized on the generous 
provisions of the Homestead Act to acquire land for the townsite.  Under the Homestead Act of 
1862, a potential settler could file a claim, make certain improvements to the land to establish 
that property as a farm or ranch and then receive title without spending any money to 
purchase the property.  The much-abused Homestead Act often resulted in granting title to 
άƘƻƳŜǎǘŜŀŘǎέ ǘƘŀǘ ǉǳƛŎƪƭȅ ōŜŎŀƳŜ townsites when their owners sold the property to real 
estate developers.   
 
The MVWSC set up two helpful individuals to file abutting homestead claims of 80 acres each.   
Algernon S. Dutton filed on the northern tract. William A. Upchurch claimed the southern tract.  
Dutton was a well known pioneer in southwestern Colorado.  This project was among the last in 
his life. He died in nearby Archuleta County on December 14, 1885, about a year before the 
Land Office gave him clear title to the land.6  On the same day ŀǎ 5ǳǘǘƻƴΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘΣ the County 
Clerk recorded a sale ŦǊƻƳ 5ǳǘǘƻƴΩǎ family to MVWSC president Burtis L. Arbecam.7  Dutton had 
signed a power of attorney in 1884 to authorize M.J. Wine to transact the sale of this land, so it 
appears that Dutton had anticipated his own death and how it might have affected the future 
of Cortez. ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ !Φ ¦ǇŎƘǳǊŎƘΩǎ 80-acre tract made up the southern half of the original 
townsite.  
 
The officers of the MVWSC established the Cortez Land and Investment Company to develop 
Cortez and other nearby real estate.   Their townsite plat was recorded on December 22, 1886 
(Figure 4).  M.J. Mack, the civil engineer in the employ of the MVWSC surveyed the original 160 
acres and laid out a townsite in a manner typical of townsite development at the time to 
maximize the number of salable lots.  Streets were oriented in cardinal directions and consisted 
of 25-foot- wide lots grouped in 300-foot-long square blocks. Alleys divided the lots and 
provided access to the rear of the lot.  Eighty-foot-wide street rights-of-ways allowed room for 
horses and buggies. An unusual factor in the original Cortez layout is that the town limits ended 
mid-block, resulting in blocks located on the edge of town with no side streets.  Clearly the 
founders expected the city to expand.  
 

                                                 
5
 Hall, Frank. History of Colorado Volume 4. Chicago, Illinois: Blakely Printing Company,1895, page 226 and 

Freeman, Ira S. A History of Montezuma County. Boulder, Colorado: Johnson Publishing Company, 1958. Page 66. 
6
 Title was provided on December 9, 1886. 

7
 Bureau of Land Management General Land Office Records COCOAA 020298 and 020309; and obituary 
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Montezuma Avenue, located at the highest elevation in the townsite, was the premiere 
residential street.  Its 120-foot-wide right-of-way included a central median.  The developers 
envisioned opened ditches in the tree-ƭƛƴŜŘ ƳŜŘƛŀƴ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ a±²{/Ωǎ ŦƭǳƳŜ to 
the rest of town.  A ditch was planned for the median in Montezuma Avenue to carry water into 
the city. While a flume did eventually reach Montezuma Avenue, the distribution system was 
never built, but the tree-lined median remains. 
 
In 1888 the F.R. /ƻŦŦƛƴΩǎ Addition, also platted by M.J. Mack, expanded Cortez to the east.  
Although most of the land sold from the homestead was divided into uniform rectangles, the 
properties were defined by ǎǳǊǾŜȅƻǊΩǎ ƳŜǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ ōƻǳƴŘǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴǎΣ ǊŀǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ǘƘŜ 
convenient lot and block division that is typical within cities. These unplatted parcels left a 
legacy of lengthy legal descriptions for the properties located north of Montezuma Avenue and 
east of Ash Street.  Commerce centered on Main Avenue and Market Streets. 
 
James Hanna filed his own homestead on 80 acres located immediately west of the original 
town.  Montezuma County records show that in 1888 Hanna and his wife collected at least 
$15,000 through their sale of property to the townsite company.   The Chamberlin Addition, 
constituting land owned by the Cortez Land and Investment Company and containing much of 
CǊŀƴƪ ¢ƘƻƳǇǎƻƴΩǎ ƘƻƳŜstead, expanded the city limits to the south in 1890. 
 
/ƻǊǘŜȊΩǎ ǇǊƻǎǇŜǊƛǘȅ ǊŜƭƛŜŘ ƻƴ ǎǳŎŎŜǎǎŦǳƭ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘΦ ²ŀǘŜǊ ƳŀŘŜ ǘƘŜ ŀǊƛŘ ƭŀƴŘǎ 
productive, attracting farmers who would support a town.  Workers could live in Cortez while 
they built the water delivery systems.  Without an abundant local water source, Cortez 
residents needed the imported water as much as any farmer. While they waited for the flume, 
townspeople relied on water hauled in from Mitchell Springs and stored in a cistern. 
 
The water delivery system was plagued with problems. The newly arrived farmers had taken 
jobs to build the water system and had no time to prepare their own farms.  The MVWSC had 
so few customers it could not stay in business.  It folded in 1887.  The Colorado Water Supply 
Company took over between 1888 and 1890. The ongoing struggles of the water delivery 
companies affected ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩs progress, but entrepreneurs were not deterred by this 
shortcoming.  F.M. Goodykoontz started a restaurant before the streets were platted. A post 
office opened on Main Street in 1887. The Montezuma Valley Bank started that same year with 
$30,000 in capital provided primarily by founding members of the Montezuma Valley Water 
Supply Company.8  
 
The book Cortez describes the start up frenzy, ά¢ƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ мууу ŘŀǿƴŜŘ ƻƴ ŀ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ олл ƛƴ 
Cortez, including 60 women and 60 school-age children. Seventeen buildings rose above 
boardwalks and tents.έ and notes that by 1888, a collection of over forty established businesses 
included the venerable Hotel Clifton, two restaurants, a general mercantile, three pharmacies, 

                                                 
8
 Schwindt, Vila; Janet Weeth and Dale Davidson. Cortez. Charleston, South Carolina: Arcadia Publishing, 2011.  
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a grocery, a dairy, a sawmill and three laundries, of which one was a Chinese washee. 9  
Numerous service businesses included seamstresses, blacksmiths and attorneys.  For a town in 
such a remote location with no direct railroad access, Cortez had a remarkably diverse 
commercial base. Most of these commercial operations were located on Main Street near 
Market Street. 
 
The Cortez School District No. 17 organized and began school on August 1, 1887, in a frame 
building located on South Linden. Dave Longenbaugh taught the first classes. By 1890 the new 
Cortez District bought two lots on East Montezuma Avenue for $1 and hired renowned local 
mason Peter Baxstrom to build a two-story stone school house. He completed the job for 
$13,374.10 The fifth through eighth grade children attended school there while the first through 
fourth grade children received instruction at two other locations on Chestnut Street.  The high 
school children attended school in Mancos until a high school was constructed in Cortez in 
1909. 11 
 
Social activities revolved around the Woodmen of the World Hall.12   Early dances, school 
entertainment, traveling shows, local plays, and exhibits for the Montezuma County Fair were 
all held in the Hall.13 The earliest church buildings were the Congregational Church (burned 
1930) and the Christian Science Church, which were both built in 1889. John R. Curry, a 
ƴŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊ Ƴŀƴ ŦǊƻƳ ¢ŜƭƭǳǊƛŘŜΣ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƴŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊΣ The Montezuma Journal, in 
1888. In an optimistic move, construction on a county courthouse began sometime between 
1886 and 1888, before legislation actually created Montezuma County in early 1889. Locals 
must have been confident that Cortez would best Mancos and Dolores in the election for a 
county seat.14 
 
The new developers of Cortez may have been a little ahead of themselves. The energetic burst 
of the first two years slowed to a lull in activity.  Between 1890 and 1900, while the new 
ŎƻǳƴǘȅΩǎ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǘƛƻƴ ŘƻǳōƭŜŘΣ /ƻǊǘŜȊΩǎ residents dwindled. Only a few homes had been built in 
the new town.  The stately stone mercantile building located at the corner of Main and Market 
Streets (Wilson Building-Stone Block Building 5MT6906) sat unfinished in 1889 and 1890.  The 
courthouse was not completed until 1890.  The bank closed in 1891.  The 1897 Cortez school 
census dropped to 38 students. Disastrous fires in 1898 hampered new development.  The 
prosperous Guillet Brothers owned a flour mill that caught fire in February of 1898. The next 
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month a fire started in the Hotel Blackmer.  With a limited water supply and no fire 
department, townspeople watched in horror as the fire spread through the downtown. 
 
The long- promised flume finally brought water to Cortez on July 4, 1890. The forty-foot-tall 
structure carried water three miles from the Cortez Lateral to Montezuma Avenue.   Strapped 
for cash, the water delivery company faltered, reorganized, merged with another company and 
reorganized again.  It emerged as the Montezuma Land and Water Company in 1894.   
 
Although Cortez greeted the new century with many basic civic services in place, the water 
problems persisted. A portion of the flume blew down in 1901. The damage was quickly 
repaired, but the locals knew they needed a more reliable water system.  At least two attempts 
to drill wells had come up dry.    Realizing that any solution to their water problem would be 
costly, the citizens voted to incorporate the city to be able to sell bonds for the improvement.  
Cortez was incorporated on November 10, 1902, with Herman M. Guillet as the mayor.  In 
1903, thirsty citizens supported a project to install two windmills that pumped water to a 
reservoir.  It seemed like a good idea at the time. The Mancos Times commented on page 4 of 
ǘƘŜƛǊ aŀȅ ннΣ мфло ŜŘƛǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ άΧΦǘƘŜ ŎƛǘƛȊŜƴǎ ƻŦ /ƻǊǘŜȊ ŀǊŜ ǳǇ ŀƴŘ ŘƻƛƴƎΦ ¢ƘŜ ƴŜǿŜǎǘ 
ƛƳǇǊƻǾŜƳŜƴǘ ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ǇǳǘǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ ƻŦ ŀ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǇƭŀƴǘΦέ  ²ƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ ǿƛƴŘƳƛƭƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ǉǳƛŎƪƭȅ ǇǊƻǾŜŘ 
insufficient, the city bit the bullet and bonded for a steam powered water pump.  On June 3, 
1904, the Montezuma Journal rejoiced over the opening of the new water plant in a front page 
ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀŘƭƛƴŜ ά/hw¢9½ ²!¢9w ²hwY{Τ ¢ƘŜ [ƻƴƎ CŜƭǘ ²ŀƴǘέΦ  CƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘƛƳŜ ƛƴ 
over two years, the article exclaimed, residents will be able to water their trees and gardens 
and the town will have an ample supply of water to fight fires.  It appeared that, at least for a 
while, Cortez had solved its water problems.  
 
Typical Cultural Resources Illustrating this Context 
Very few standing buildings or structures survive from this time period, primarily because most 
of the early structures were constructed of wood and they were vulnerable to the frequent 
catastrophic fires that leveled large parts of town.  The rare surviving residential buildings have 
been extensively remodeled. The remnant of the first stone schoolhouse that is now a home at 
23 East Montezuma Avenue (5MT19949) and the Soens home at 147 East Montezuma Avenue 
(5MT19940) are examples of these resources. Surviving commercial buildings are constructed 
of stone and include the Wilson Building-Stone Block Building (5MT6906) located at 2 West 
Main Street and the Old Cortez Post Office (5MT6905), located at 34 West Mains Street. Other 
significant resources illustrating this context include: 

¶ Any building or structure that retains its original architectural design and materials; 

¶ Any resources related to early water delivery systems, such as flume or canal remnants; 

¶ Historic neighborhoods illustrating the original formal design plans for parts of the city, 
such as the Montezuma Avenue neighborhood with its formal boulevard design 
incorporating a median and landscaping treatments. 
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Context 3 Agriculture, Water and Prosperity:  1904-1920 
 
This time period reflects how, perhaps more than any other time in Cortez, the economy of the 
rural areas surrounding the town influenced how the town grew and developed. Successful 
farms and ranches, timber development, and the beginning of the oil and gas extraction 
industry fueled growth and prosperity in Cortez. 
 
History 
While the town grappled with water, new people moved into the Montezuma Valley, 
agricultural production improved and Cortez grew.  A series of events and activities between 
1900 and 1910 in the area around Cortez had significant impacts on the town. Real estate sales 
took off in the now-irrigated Montezuma Valley. Farm and orchard land sold for prices between 
$30 and $60 an acre.  Those prices were a bargain when compared to similar properties in 
other parts of Colorado that cost anywhere between $200 to ten times that per acre.15 A large 
number of the newcomers came from other farming regions in Colorado.  Local business 
owners Tom Omo, orchard developer and real estate salesman C.J. Closson, entrepreneur and 
realtor R.J. Huff and the Grasse family who ran businesses on Main Street all came from Paonia, 
Colorado.  Mesa Verde National Park was established in 1906 and opened to the public, 
drawing adventurous tourists from all over the world. Oil discoveries in 1909 drew exploration 
to nearby Bluff and Aneth, Utah.  
 
The Montezuma Valley National Bank, followed by the Cortez National Bank (chartered 1907) 
opened in response to the new money flowing into the community.  A big fire blazed through 
the downtown on September 29 of 1908, burning out most of the stores located immediately 
west of the Wilson Building-Stone Block Building (5MT6906) at the northwest corner of Main 
and Market.  New construction replaced those buildings including a nŜǿ ά.Ǌƻǿƴέ ƘƻǘŜƭ ǘƻ 
replace the Clifton and a new mercantile building. In response to the fires, on October 15, 1908, 
the Cortez City Council passed ordinances requiring that only brick, stone or cement be used for 
ƴŜǿ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŀǘŜŘ άŦƛǊŜ ŘƛǎǘǊƛŎǘέ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ōǊƛŎƪǎ ōŜ ǳǎŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŦƭǳŜǎΦ  The fire district 
encompassed all of the commercial development on Main and Market Streets. This must have 
been quite a boon for C.H. Bopp who had just opened /ƻǊǘŜȊΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ōǊƛŎƪ ǿƻǊƪǎ όǘƘŜ /ƻǊǘŜȊ 
Brick and Tile Manufacturing Company) in March of that year. 
 
The fire probably also provided the catalyst behind a movement to complete a pressurized 
water system. Pressurized water lines were installed between 1907 and 1909, including the 
ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŦƛǊŜ ƘȅŘǊŀƴǘǎ. 
 
People began to build homes. Between 1900 and 1910, the population of Cortez more than 
quadrupled. Social and fraternal groups organized and new systems connected Cortez to the 
outside world.  In addition to the Congregationalist and Christian Science congregations, issues 
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of the Montezuma Journal reference Episcopal, Seventh Day Adventists and Baptist services 
held in the community during this period.  After years of meeting in temporary quarters, the 
Methodist Congregation laid a cornerstone for their church at the corner of First and Beech 
Street in 1908.  The church was finished in 1910. Fraternal and social organizations formed.  The 
Knights of Pythias (1901) and the Masons (1909) established local chapters.  The first county 
fair led to creation of the County Fair Association in 1909.  
 
Another social movement also took hold in Cortez. The Anti-Saloon League was working across 
the United States to encourage local entities to abolish alcohol.  Their fervor carried Cortez and 
most of Montezuma County.  In the spring election of 1908, Cortez voters passed an anti-saloon 
ordinance by a vote of 78 to 44.  The city was officially dry by the end of the year, twelve years 
before Prohibition was enacted nationwide. 
 
The Cortez Schools experienced explosive growth when the new residents enrolled their 
children. The Cortez School District hired local mason Peter Baxstrom to construct a new six-
classroom building for $14,000.  The new school opened in 1909; all grades (1-12) were taught 
in the school.  Hannah Duward, the first woman Cortez Schools Superintendent, oversaw the 
ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƎǊŀŘǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ /ƻǊǘŜȊΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ŦƻǳǊ ƘƛƎƘ ǎŎƘƻƻƭ ƎǊŀŘǳŀǘŜǎ ƛƴ мфлфΦ 
 
In such a remote location and with no rail service, Cortez citizens relied on regular shuttle 
service providing rides over the muddy and rough county roads to the railroad station in 
Dolores.  In 1908 the Bozman Realty Company replaced their old horse-powered rides with an 
automobile, employing the first car to come to Cortez. The first telephone connection from 
Cortez to Mancos came in 1905 and the in-town Cortez phone system developed between 1905 
and 1908. 
 

Prosperity carried forward into the 1910s as local 
commercial enterprises were established and 
expanded. The Montezuma Oil and Development 
Co. formed in 1910, followed by the Montezuma 
Valley Produce Company in 1911.  Mills prospered. 
Two lumber yards sold building supplies in town. 
Lumber companies working near Dolores 
ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘƭȅ ŜȄǇŀƴŘŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǊŜƎƛƻƴΩǎ ǘƛƳōŜǊ ŀƴŘ 
agricultural production. In 1911, with the new 
pressurized water system, townspeople organized 
a volunteer fire department.  The sheriff, Jim 
Gawith, was the chief.  Cortez residents also saw 
their first motion picture in 1911. The school 
population grew and the first Parent Teacher 
Association meeting was held in 1915. Dr. Emil E. 
Johnson came to Cortez and established a hospital 
in 1917.  His facility consisted of two cottages 

located at 301 West Main.  Johnson connected the two buildings and offered ten beds.   

Table 2 Cortez and Montezuma County 
Population     Per  US Census Data 

Year Cortez County 

1890 332 1,529 

1900 125 3,058 

1910 565 5,029 

1920 541 6,260 

1930 921 7,798 

1940 1,778 10,463 

1950 2,680 9,991 

1960 6,764 14,024 

1970 6,032 12,952 

1980 7,095 16,510 

1990 7,280 18,672 

2000 7,977 23,830 

2010 8,482 25,535 
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Cortez joined the patriotic fervor that swept the country during World War I.  A number of local 
men volunteered in 1917-1918 and the women organized through the Mesa Verde Chapter of 
ǘƘŜ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ [ŜŀƎǳŜ ƻŦ ²ƻƳŜƴΩǎ {ŜǊǾƛŎŜΦ hƴƎƻƛƴƎ Řƻƴŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ wŜŘ /Ǌƻǎǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜǎ ƻŦ 
war bonds came from Cortez.  Prices for food crops began to rise to address shortages in 
Europe before the United States entered the war.  Demand increased to feed the American 
troops after the US entry.  It was patriotic and profitable to be a farmer in those days. The war 
and the decade ended with record high prices for crops, and the number of farms in 
Montezuma County ballooned from 261 in 1900 to 904 in 1920.16 As the commercial center for 
the county, Cortez benefitted from increased crops and crop prices.  
 
Typical Cultural Resources Illustrating this Context 
Typical properties reflect the prosperity of the time period in commercial, residential or 
social/community buildings such as new banks, mercantiles, restaurants and lumber yards. The 
Montezuma Valley National Bank (5MT19093) and the homes constructed just to the north of 
Main Street (such as 143 East North Street-5MT 20234) and on Montezuma from this time 
period are examples of these resources.  
 
Context 4 The Automobile, Mobility and Tourism:  1916-1945 
This period reflects the tremendous impact of the automobile, the associated impacts from this 
new mobility that contributed to the decline in the influences of agriculture, and the role of the 
Federal Government in instigating tourism at National Parks and in funding improvements 
during the Great Depression.  
 
History 
Before the rise of the automobile, and without easy access to a railroad,  goods were shipped 
out from railroad depots in other towns and the roads to the community were often muddy 
and rough. 
 
The automobile changed everything.  This new contraption was enormously popular 
throughout Colorado and the United States.   Between 1916 and the early 1920s, the number of 
cars in Colorado rose from 15,000 to 300,000.17 New drivers ventured farther than they ever 
would in a wagon, and truck freighting competed with the railroads.  Road designs changed to 
accommodate this new form of transportation. Truck transportation eased the freighting 
problems of the remote farmers and ranchers.  Cortez saw its first freight truck in 1916. The 
fuel consumed by the new vehicles dramatically boosted the demand for petroleum products, 
expanding a burgeoning oil and gas drilling industry.  
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In 1919 Colorado voters approved a gasoline tax, which helped fund a newly created State 
Highway Department in 1921.  Using matching Federal funds, the state poured money into 
highway improvements.   State and federal road improvement funds opened the region to 
tourism and freighting opportunities.  
 
One of the most significant road projects was The Navajo Trail.   In 1920 and 1921, a series of 
roads were connected and improved to create a route between Moab, Utah and Gallup, New 
Mexico.  Supporters of the route realized a valuable promotional point for the highway could 
be the short detour from Cortez to Mesa Verde National Park.  Cortez business promoters 
jumped at the opportunity and joined a committee to promote the road, which was named the 
Navajo Trail.  The principal towns along the route ς Moab, Monticello, Cortez and Gallup ς 
committed to and succeeded in raising $150 each for route-marking signs, which were 
produced in Cortez and installed in early November 1921. The group also published maps and 
promotional literature that were distributed through automobile associations nationwide. 
Beginning in December 1921, efforts were made to have the Navajo Trail designated as a 
federal interstate highway, thereby making it eligible to receive federal funds for 
improvements.  The Colorado portion quickly received a federal aid designation in early 1922 
and improvements between Cortez and Dove Creek were planned for that summer. In 1925, 
the route was officially designated U.S. Highway 450. The Durango-Cortez road was also 
designated a national highway in 1925. 18 
 
The Cortez economy continued to serve the surrounding farmers, but tourism also grew, 
boosted by the newly designated federal highways.  The more adventurous motorists travelled 
to Mesa Verde and to two other new attractionsτYucca House and Hovenweep (designated in 
1919 and 1923 respectively) National Monuments.19  In 1921 Mesa Verde welcomed 3,000 
tourists who arrived in 651 cars. In 1933, visitation was up to 16,000 people in 4,000 
automobiles.  Service stations, auto garages and motels sprang up in Cortez to meet the need.  
Cortez welcomed the increased automobile traffic in town and graveled Main Street in 1922.  
Concrete sidewalks debuted in 1922 and 1923.  
 
The tourist dollars were particularly helpful during a recession in the early 1920s when post 
World War I crop and livestock prices plunged.  A number of new people moved into Cortez in 
the 1920s, and the percentage of city residents increased.  As Cortez grew, so did its number of 
school age children. The community responded by adding a gym and additional classrooms to 
the school.   
 
Perhaps the most significant improvement to daily life in Cortez in the 1920s was the 
installation of a city-wide electrical system.   Electricity-generating plants require a steady 
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supply of fuelτusually in the form of moving water, steam or gas. Lacking a steady source of 
any of these elements, Cortez had endured a long wait for large scale electric power.  
 
Newspaper articles from the Montezuma Journal relate the details of the wait.  The WƻǳǊƴŀƭΩs 
1904 joyful report on the new city water works made a hopeful reference to pending electricity, 
but no plant emerged.  In 1909 Allan Kermode applied to the City for a franchise to construct a 
power plant and install a power system in Cortez.  Apparently this plan never went forward, 
because four years later, the page one headline of the Journal on January 9, 1913, proclaimed 
άtǊƻǇƻǎŜŘ 9ƭŜŎǘǊƛŎ [ƛƎƘǘ tƭŀƴǘ .ŜŦƻǊŜ ¦ǎΦ  [ŜǘΩǎ support itΦέ   Kermode applied for a franchise 
again in 1919, when the Journal reported on the application and ǊŜǎǇƻƴŘŜŘ ά¢Ƙƛǎ Ƙŀǎ ƭƻƴƎ ōŜŜn 
ǿƛǎƘŜŘ ŦƻǊΧέ20 
 
While they were waiting for a larger scale electricity service, local merchants and residents 
could have electrical power if they chose to purchase a small-scale packaged άƭƛƎƘǘ ǇƭŀƴǘέΣ 
which consisted of a gas engine powering a belt- driven generator that stored electricity in a 
series of batteries. The most popular of these were the Delco brand.21  The Johnson Hospital 
had a Delco Light Plant at least up into the 1920s.  
 
Alternatives to electricity included the natural gas lights system offered by the Standard Gillette 
Light Company.  The Harrington Drug Store advertised these lights in Cortez  in 1909. 
 
It appears the Kermode Franchise reported on in the 1919 paper did not succeed. The first 
larger scale light plant was installed in the Mowry flour mill and was started in 1922 or 1923 by 
W.J. Bozman, Ed Johnson, A.W. Cowling and John Coleman.22 By 1923, their Cortez Light and 
Power Company had installed new street lights and illuminated the county fair.   
 

Local author Ira Freeman noted ά¢Ƙƛǎ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŦŜŜōƭŜ ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŀ ǎȅǎǘŜƳ ŦƻǊ ǇƻǿŜǊ ŀƴŘ ƭƛƎƘǘ 
ǘƘŀǘ ǿŀǎ ǘƻ ƎǊƻǿ ƛƴǘƻ Ǿŀǎǘƭȅ ƎǊŜŀǘŜǊ ǘƘƛƴƎǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŦŜǿ ȅŜŀǊǎ Ƨǳǎǘ ŀƘŜŀŘέΦ23 The stock market 
crash in 1929 marked the beginning of a national depression that gripped Cortez and the rest of 
the country.  Prices tumbled on everything. In Colorado, prices for hogs dropped from $12.10 in 
1929 to $3.10 in 1933. Potatoes plummeted from $1.40 to 24 cents a bushel in that same time.   
Many businesses closed.  ¢ƘŜ ǘƘƛǊǘƛŜǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŀ ŘŜŎŀŘŜ ŦƻǊ άƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ƻƴέ.  
 
Cortez did not go dormant during this time, but changes were few and carefully developed. The 
Highland Utilities Company bought the Cortez power plant along with two other plants in 
Montezuma County.   Local cooperatives were formed such as the Cortez Creamery 
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Cooperative (1931); and local businessman Bill Lichliter took over the Cortez Sale Barn after 
W.D. (Bill) Watson started it.  A devastating drought in 1934 caused more distress for farmers.  
 
The banks in Cortez closed during the federally mandated bank holiday in 1933 and reopened, 
but the Montezuma Valley National Bank faltered and eventually closed in 1936.  A new bank, 
the Citizens State Bank moved into the former Montezuma Valley National Bank building that 
same year.  ¢ƘŜ ŎƛǘȅΩǎ ǇƻǇulation almost doubled in the 1930s as people moved to Cortez in 
search of work. St. Barnabas Episcopal Church opened in 1937, replacing their old church that 
had burned down in 1919.  The Congregational Church, which had also burned down, finished 
building a new church. The Cortez School District reported in 1935 that 409 students attended 
school at a cost of $45.10 per pupil. 
 
The New Deal stimulus programs injected money into the community through construction 
projects at /ƻǊǘŜȊΩǎ school and throughout town.    The Works Progress Administration (WPA) 
had a huge presence in Colorado, employing an estimated 150,000 people statewide and 
spending more than $120 million in construction.  
 

 
       Photo Source: Ebay listing 
 Photograph 1: The Montezuma County Courthouse was constructed in 1936 for about $60,000 with half of the 
funding from the WPA program.  

 
Throughout the state, the WPA built or improved more than 9,400 miles of roadways and  
helped build 1,347 public buildings, 494 schools, 110 parks, 195 playgrounds and athletic fields, 
32 wading or swimming pools, 78 utility plants, 279 miles of water distribution pipes and mains 
and 224 miles of sanitary and storm sewers in Colorado. WPA projects in Cortez included the 
expansion of the school (1935) a new library on Main (1934-орύΣ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǎǿƛƳƳƛƴƎ Ǉƻƻƭ 
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and the County Courthouse.24 Civil Works Administration funding contributed to an airport 
located east of town. 
 
Another federal public works program, the Rural Electrification Administration (REA), brought 
improved electric service to the area. The REA was created in 1935 under President Franklin D. 
Roosevelt.  Provisions of the REA included the development of cooperatives to expand the 
reach of electricity in the United States.  The Empire Electric Association was the first and only 
rural electric cooperative established in Montezuma and Dolores Counties under the REA. 
Empire Electric was incorporated in November of 1939 ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƻǇŜǊŀǘƛǾŜΩǎ first electric line 
went live in 1941. Empire bought out its major competitor, Highland Utility, in 1944. 
 
Typical Cultural Resources Illustrating this Context 
Typical properties include tourism related businesses, and automobile oriented businesses such 
as early car dealerships and service stations. Other important resources illustrating this context 
include: 

¶ Depression-era federally funded buildings, such as the County Courthouse; 

¶ Properties associated with the establishment of electricity, including Highland Utilities 
and the early days of Empire Electric Association; 

¶ Automobile oriented and automobile-tourism businesses that retain original 
architectural design and materials.  
 

These properties would need to retain features from before 1945 to reflect this context. 
 
Context 5 Vaulting into the modern age: 1945-1960 
 
This context begins with World War II, and covers the time when Cortez experienced a historic 
peak in growth and prosperity, fueled by energy development and post-war prosperity. 
 
History 
The pall of the Depression lifted as prices for crops and livestock began to go up in the early 
1940s.  America geared up for World War II and the war efforts employed many who were not 
serving in the military. After the war, a major oil strike in 1948, on property located twelve 
miles west of Pleasant View, instigated extensive development that continues to today. 
Significant oil production in the Aneth area began with wells drilled in early 1956. Although it 
was located in Utah, the Aneth Oil Field was accessed through nearby McElmo Canyon and was 
supplied by businesses in Cortez.  
 
With unprecedented population growth in the 1950s and a booming economy, Cortez faced a 
rosy future only slightly tainted by the challenges of meeting the demands of so many new 
residents.  Cortez was the service center for oil and gas exploration in nearby Aneth and Dove 
Creek, uranium prospecting and tourism development.  The Atomic Age had a presence in the 
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region in the radioactive ore processing facilities located in Blanding and Durango. Construction 
for new housing also poured money into the community. The oil and the uranium-related 
facilities directed federal money toward building and improving roads in the region.  
 
The changes were evident on Main Street. It was paved in 1951. Other streets were either 
graveled or paved in 1953-1954, and the streets north of North Street were paved in 1958. 25  
Technology and new businesses arrived from the outside world, including a number of chain 
stores. While most people came to Cortez by car, the nearby airport began receiving 
commercial planes in the 1950s.  The first commercial airline and the first air mail service began 
in 1949. The first radio station, KVFC, and the first television in Cortez appeared in 1955.  
 
The Johnson Family built the Turquoise Motel on the site of their old hospital. The 25 unit motel 
served its first guest on April 13, 1958, ŀƴŘ ŀŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜŘ ŀǎ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ ά{ƻǳǘƘǿŜǎǘ /ƻƭƻǊŀŘƻΩǎ ƻƴƭȅ 
ŘƻǳōƭŜ ŘŜŎƪ ƳƻǘŜƭέΦ  ¢ƘŜ {ŀƴŘǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 9ƭ /ŀǇǊƛ ƳƻǘŜƭǎ ŀƭǎƻ ƻǇŜƴŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ȅŜŀǊΦ  (The neon signs 
from these two motels are still in place and are listed on the Cortez Historic Register.) The First 
National Bank of Cortez opened its third bank in Cortez on May 29, 1958. 
 
As money came into Cortez, efforts turned to community improvements. In 1948, the 
Southwest Community Hospital opened with 30 beds, six doctors and two dentists.  A new City 
Hall building was completed on Main in late 1955, and the Police Department boasted eight 
people on its staff.  Town residents voted to becoƳŜ ŀ άƘƻƳŜ ǊǳƭŜέ Ŏƛǘȅ ƛƴ мфртΦ ¢ƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ 
year, the Town Council hired a new town manager and created numerous boards authorized 
under home rule legislation, including a Planning Board and a Sanitation Board.  
 
Limited housing supply reached a near crisis. The January 9, 1958 Montezuma Valley Journal 
reported that 58 homes and 200 rental units were to be built that spring for the acute housing 
shortage. The homes were to be located just east and north of Kemper School and all were 
planned to have three or more bedrooms and garages. The Journal also noted that an architect, 
Bill Nilsen, had moved to town.  
 
Natural gas was piped into town in 1957. Over 1,000 gas taps had been completed by April of 
1958. The Cortez Sanitation District, which had incorporated in 1953, oversaw improvements to 
central sewer service. It seems that a central sewer system was installed by at least 1942. Plans 
for sewer lines in 1942 are on file in the Montezuma County records. Locals remember 
outhouses were still pretty common in the 1940s. A water committee worked toward 
installation of a new water treatment plant, which was constructed in 1960.  
 
The public schools made radical changes in the 1940s and 1950s.  The Cortez School (known as 
the Calkins School) became a junior high school in 1946, when Montezuma County High School 
opened.  Under a mandate from the State of Colorado, the rural schools consolidated into 
larger regional schools in the 1950s. New elementary schools opened in Cortez, including 
Downey in 1950 and Manaugh, followed by Kemper Elementary in 1958. By 1957 all high school 
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students in Montezuma County were attending one of the three high schoƻƭǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻǳƴǘȅΩǎ 
largest towns of Cortez, Dolores and Mancos.  The graduating class of 1958 had a record-setting 
108 students. A new high School was constructed in 1967 and the old high school became the 
middle school. The Calkins School served as an administration building.  
 
Cortez maintained a role as a service center for local agriculture, but the energy-related sector 
and the continually increasing impact of tourism ƭŜǎǎŜƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΩǎ ǊŜƭƛŀƴŎŜ ƻƴ farming 
and ranching. Symbolic of this shift, the Cortez Sale Barn operation was moved outside of the 
city limits in 1959.  Flour mills remain in town and small scale farmers markets continue the 
agriculture traditions of the community.  Energy development and tourism continue to play a 
significant roƭŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴΩǎ future.  
 
The prosperous 1950s allowed the city residents an opportunity to enjoy some leisure time in 
the next decades. Citizens approved a $50,000 bond in 1961 to fund a golf course.  Cortez 
residents of the early 1960s could also look forward to the development of large parks, a new 
library and (much later) a new recreation center.  Further into the future lay the onset of more 
sophisticated tourism marketing facilities, groundbreaking archaeological research and in an 
ironic nod to Jameǎ IŀƴƴŀΩǎ ǿŀǘŜǊ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΣ ƳŀǎǎƛǾŜ ǎŎŀƭŜ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǎǘƻǊŀƎŜ ŀƴŘ 
delivery systems at McPhee Reservoir.  
 
Typical Cultural Resources Illustrating this Context 
 
The unprecedented rate of growth and wealth during this time period has left a large legacy of 
buildings illustrating this context. They include: 

¶ Buildings constructed with design characteristics common to popular Modernist 
Movement styles of the times; 

¶ Buildings that have been remodeled to clearly reflect the Modernist Movement style; 

¶ Public facilities constructed in response to the population explosion, such as the 
Downey, Manaugh and Kemper elementary schools, or Cortez City Hall; 

¶ Chain stores constructed after 1945 that have retained character defining features from 
before 1960s. 

 
Cortez has numerous examples of this context. Only the best preserved resources with the 
strongest visible connection to this context should be considered for historic designation as 
representatives of the numerous similar resources from this time.  

¶ The buildings should retain their original architectural design and materials.  

¶ Resources should still retain a strong association with the original historic use. 

¶ Resources should rank higher in relative importance among similar properties. For 
example the resource might be: 

o One of the firsts of its type; 
o A model that introduced a new concept or influenced other property 

development; or 
o The best example of that type of resource or architectural design. 
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Survey Results  
 
Developmental History of the Survey Area 
Main Street is the commercial heart of Cortez.  Businesses and government offices have lined 
its curbs since the town was first platted in 1886. An article in the Durango Herald in 1888 
described Cortez as a vibrant community with a number of prosperous enterprises on Main 
Street, including groceries and mercantile stores, lawyers and realtors, bars and the post office. 
The primary social hall, built for the Woodman of the World, was also on Main. Most of the 
buildings were small-with storefronts no wider than 25 feet-and built of wood.  They had false 
fronts or flat roofs. Early Cortez resident Gladys Guillet Hart remembered the streets were 
ά5ǳǎǘȅ ƛƴ ǎǳƳƳŜǊ ƻǊ ŘǊȅ ǎǇŜƭƭǎ ŀƴŘ ƳǳŘŘȅ ƛƴ ǿƛƴǘŜǊΧ¢ƘŜ ǎƛŘŜǿŀƭƪǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǊƻǳƎƘ ōƻŀǊŘǎ ƴŀƛƭŜŘ 
to 2 by 4 frames with 10 ǇŜƴƴȅ ƴŀƛƭǎΦέ26 
 
The few large buildings on Main Street included livery buildings and a large hotel, known as The 
Clifton. The historic and current anchor of the downtown is the Stone Block Building (5MT6906 
located at 2 West Main), which was the showpiece of the Montezuma Valley Water Supply 
Company, (which soon became the Colorado Water Supply Company and the Cortez Land and 
Investment Companyύ ŀƴŘ ŀƴ ŜŀǊƭȅ ƘƻƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ²ŀǘŜǊ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŘƳƛƴƛǎǘǊŀǘƛǾŜ ƻŦŦƛŎŜǎΦ  Lǘ 
was constructed in 1889, and features prominently in historic photographs of Main Street.    
 

 
Photograph 2: Main Street in about 1906, with the Hotel Clifton and the Stone Block Building dominating the block. 
Photograph from the Cortez Journal December 29, 2014 edition. 

 

                                                 
26

 Montezuma County Historical Society. Great Sage Plain to Timberline: Our Pioneer History Volume I. Cortez, 

Colorado: Montezuma County Historical Society. 2009. Page 126. 

 



 

Cortez Survey Phase IV            Cultural Resource Planning Page 28 

The Stone Block Building survived the persistent and frequent fires that dogged Main Street.  
Two fires that particularly affected the north side of Main in the survey area both occurred in 
the fall, in 1908 and 1929. The 1908 fire took out most of the buildings in the block to the west 
of the Stone Block Building, and left a favorite local story about how the Guillet Brothers 
(whose mercantile business occupied part of the Stone Block Building) averted fire damage by 
soaking the Navajo Blankets that they sold in their store and draping them on the roof of the 
building.   
 
Perhaps because of this hard-earned knowledge of the fire-proof value in stone buildings, the 
Guillets were among the founders of the Montezuma Valley National Bank (5MT19093) that 
occupied another stone building located across Market Street from their store in 1909.  Just 
east of the bank building, all of the buildings from about 16 E. Main to the McEwen Hall 
(currently occupied by Love on a Hanger) at 34 East Main were lost in the fire of 1929.  
 

 
 
Photograph 3: Looking east at the corner of Main and Market Streets. McEwen Hall at 34 East Main is the tall 
building in the distance.  Farther east down Main, the Bozman Garage has been constructed, and newly poured 
concrete sidewalks are visible in the foreground, dating this image to sometime between 1919 and 1922. 
Photograph used with permission ŦǊƻƳ άDenver & Rio Grande Collection (Scan #20005325), History Colorado".  

 


